By-Laws of the Quad City Hockey Association

Revised May 2019

ARTICLE I - NAME AND PURPOSES

SECTION 1. Name. The name of the Corporation shall be Quad-City Hockey Association.

SECTION 2. Offices. The Corporation shall maintain a registered office in the State of Iowa and is a registered agent at such office and may have other offices within or without the state.

SECTION 3. Purposes. The purposes for which the Corporation is organized are exclusively charitable, literary, scientific and educational, including, for such purposes, the making of distributions to organizations that qualify as exempt organizations under Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 (or the corresponding provision of any future United States Internal Revenue Law).

No part of the net earnings of the Corporation shall inure to the benefit of any private individual. The Corporation shall not carry on propaganda or otherwise attempt to influence legislation. The Corporation shall not engage in any transaction or do or permit any act or omission which shall operate to deprive it of its tax exempt organization status under Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 (or the corresponding provision of any future United States Internal Revenue Law).

Upon the dissolution of the Corporation, the Board of Directors shall, after paying or making provision for the payment of all of the liabilities of the Corporation, dispose of all the assets of the Corporation exclusively for the purposes of the Corporation in such manner, or to such organization or organizations organized and operated exclusively for charitable, educational, or scientific purposes as shall at the time qualify as an exempt organization or organizations under Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 (or the corresponding provision of any future United States Internal Revenue Law), as the Board of Directors shall determine. Any such assets not so disposed of shall be disposed of by the Circuit Court of the county in which the principal office of the Corporation is then located, exclusively for such purposes or to such organization or organizations, as said Court shall determine, which are organized and operated exclusively for such purposes.

The Corporation shall distribute its income for each tax year at such time and in such manner as not to become subject to the tax on undistributed income imposed by Section 4942 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 (or the corresponding provision of any future United States Internal Revenue Law). Further, the Corporation shall not engage in any act of self-dealing as defined in Section 4941(d) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 (or the corresponding provision of any future United States Internal Revenue Law), nor retain any excess business holdings as defined in Section 4943(c) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 (or the corresponding provision of any future United States Internal Revenue Law), nor make any investments in such manner as to incur tax liability under Section 4944 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 (or the corresponding provision of any future United States Internal Revenue Law), nor make any taxable expenditures as defined in Section 4945(d) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 (or the corresponding provision of any future United States Internal Revenue Law).

ARTICLE II - MEMBERS AND VOTING RIGHTS

SECTION 1. Membership. The Members of the Corporation must be registered with the QCHA and shall include adult league players, the parents or legal guardian of all youth players, adult referees and coaches. Affiliation with the Corporation requires all players, referees and coaches to be registered with the Quad City Hockey Association and USA Hockey.

SECTION 2. Voting Rights. All Members described in SECTION 1 shall be entitled to vote for the election of the Board of Directors at the Annual Meeting of the Members and shall be entitled to vote on any other matters submitted to the vote of the membership by the Board of Directors.

SECTION 3. Annual Meetings. The Annual Meeting of the Members of the Corporation shall be held each year during the month of March or such other time at such place and time as may be designated by the Board of Directors. The Annual Meeting shall be held for the purpose of electing directors and for the transaction of other business as may come before the meeting.

SECTION 4. Special Meetings. Special meetings of the Members or for any class of members, for any purpose or purposes, may be called by the majority of the Board of Directors or the request of the President and any two (2) directors. The person or persons authorized to call special meetings of the membership may fix any place, either within or without the State of Iowa, as the place for holding any special meeting of the membership called by them.

SECTION 5. Notice of Meetings. Written notice stating the place, day and hour of the meeting and, in the case of a special meeting, the purpose or purposes for which called should be delivered no later than seven (7) days before the date of the meeting, either personally, electronically or by ordinary mail, by or at the directions of the Board of Directors, the Secretary or the person calling the meeting, to each Member or each class of members of the Corporation.

SECTION 6. Quorum. A quorum shall consist of a majority of the Members present.

ARTICLE III - Board of Directors

SECTION 1. General Powers. The affairs of the Corporation shall be managed by its Board of Directors. The Board of Directors shall have authority to act on behalf of its members.

SECTION 2. Number, Tenure and Qualifications. The number of Directors shall be determined by the Board of Directors from time to time, but shall not be less than nine (9) and no more than thirteen (13), and shall include the Corporation's President, Vice-President, Secretary and Treasurer. Directors shall be elected annually by the Members at the regular Annual Meeting of the Members. New Directors shall take responsibility at the regular June meeting. If the election of Directors shall not be held at such meeting, such election shall be held as soon thereafter as conveniently possible. The Past President will automatically serve as a director when his term of office as President expires.

The term of office shall be for two (2) years, but a Director may be re-elected by the Members with a limitation of four (4) consecutive years, with one (1) intervening year before being again elected as a Director by the Members. In the event a Board Member is elected to President during his / her third consecutive year, then their total length of time as a Director shall be five (5) years. If 58% or more of the Board Members are being replaced in any one year, then Board Members up for re-election will be offered the opportunity to serve a third term without being re-elected. The order in which the position(s) would be filled is as follows; President, Vice-President, Secretary, Treasurer, House League Director, Travel Hockey Director, High School Director, At-Large Director. If a Director is absent from three (3) consecutive regular monthly meetings of the Board of Directors without an acceptable excuse as determined by the Board, that Director's term of office shall end automatically at the close of the third consecutive missed meeting without further action of the Board. Directors need not be residents of Iowa. If a Director resigns or a Director's term of office ends automatically as provided above, the President shall then recommend to the Board a replacement person to fill the vacancy. Such replacement person shall be appointed as a Director upon affirmative vote of a majority of the Directors present at such meeting. The position of Past President is exempt from the preceding term limitations, but is limited to an additional two (2) year term after which, the one (1) intervening year is applicable.

SECTION 3. Regular Monthly Meetings. Regular monthly meetings of the Board of Directors shall be held each month, at such time and place as may be fixed by the President, or if the President is for any reason unable to act, by any two (2) Directors.

SECTION 4. Regular Annual Meetings. A regular annual meeting of the Board of Directors shall be held during the month of March, at such time and place as may be fixed by the President, or if the President is for any reason unable to act, by any two (2) Directors.

SECTION 5. Special Meetings. Special meetings of the Board of Directors may be called by or at the request of the President or any two (2) Directors. The person or persons authorized to call special meetings of the Board may fix any place as the place for holding any special meeting of the Board called by them. Meeting can be in person or by telephone conference call.

SECTION 6. Notice. Notice of any meeting of the Board of Directors shall be given at least seven (7) days previously thereto by written or electronic notice to each Director at his or her address or e-mail address as shown by the records of the Corporation. If mailed, such notice shall be deemed to be delivered when deposited in the United States mail in a sealed envelope so addressed, with postage there-on prepaid. Notice of any

meeting of the Board of Directors may be waived in writing signed by the person or persons entitled to the notice either before or after the time of the meeting. The attendance of a Director at any meeting shall constitute a waiver of notice of such meeting, except where a Director attends a meeting for the express purpose of objecting to the transaction of any business because the meeting is not lawfully called or convened. Neither the business to be transacted at, nor the purpose of, any meeting of the Board need be specified in the notice or waiver of notice of such meeting, unless specifically required by law or by these By-laws.

SECTION 7. Quorum. A majority of the Board of Directors shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business at any meeting of the Board, provided that if less than a majority of the Directors is present at said meeting, a majority of the Directors present may adjourn the meeting to another time without further notice.

SECTION 8. Manner of Acting. The act of a majority of the Directors present at a meeting at which a quorum is present shall be the act of the Board of Directors, unless the act of a greater number is required by statute, these By-laws, or the Articles of Incorporation.

SECTION 9. Removal. A Director may be removed for cause by a vote of two-thirds (2/3) of all Directors then in office. Such action shall be taken at a regular meeting of the Board of Directors or at a special meeting called for such purpose, and the proposed removal shall be set forth in the notice of any such regular or special meeting, sent at least seven (7) days prior thereto.

SECTION 10. Informal Action by Directors. Any action required to be taken at a meeting of the Directors of the Corporation, or any other action which may be taken at a meeting of Directors, may be taken without a meeting if a consent in writing or by e-mail setting forth the action so taken, shall be signed by all the Directors entitled to vote with respect to the subject matter thereof.

SECTION 11. Compensation. Directors shall not receive any stated salaries for their services, but by resolution of the Board of Directors a fixed sum and expenses of attendance, if any, may be allowed for each regular or special meeting of the Board, provided that nothing herein contained shall be construed to preclude any Director from serving the Corporation in any other capacity and receiving reasonable compensation therefrom.

ARTICLE IV - OFFICERS

SECTION 1. Officers. The officers of the Corporation shall be a President, Past President, Vice-President, Secretary, Treasurer, one (1) Representative from each of the House League, the Travel League, and a High School Representative, At-Large Director, Recruitment Director, or other officers as may be elected by the Board of Directors. Officers whose authority and duties are not prescribed in these By-laws shall have the authority and perform the duties prescribed, from time to time, by the Board of Directors. Directors may only hold one Officer position.

SECTION 2. Election and Term of Office. The officers of the Corporation shall be elected annually by the Members at the regular Annual Meetings of the Members. If the election of officers shall not be held at such meeting, such election shall be held as soon thereafter as conveniently possible. Vacancies may be filled or new offices created and filled at any meeting of the Board of Directors. Each officer shall hold office until his successor shall have been duly elected and shall have qualified or until his death or until he shall resign or shall have been removed in the manner hereinafter provided. Election of an officer shall not of itself create contract rights.

SECTION 3. Removal. Any officer elected or appointed by the Board of Directors may be removed by the Board of Directors whenever in its judgment the best interests of the Corporation would be served thereby, but such removal shall be without prejudice to the contract rights, if any, of the person so removed.

SECTION 4. President. The President shall be the Principal Executive Officer of the Corporation. Subject to the direction and control of the Board of Directors, he shall be in charge of the business and affairs of the Corporation; he shall see that the resolutions and directives of the Board of Directors are carried into effect except in those instances in which that responsibility is assigned to some other person by the Board of Directors; and, in general, he shall discharge all duties incident to the office of President and such other duties as may be prescribed by the Board of Directors. Except in those instances in which the authority to execute is expressly delegated to another officer or agent of the Corporation or a different mode of execution is expressly prescribed by the Board of Directors, he may execute for the Corporation any contracts, deeds, mortgages, bonds, or other instruments which the Board of Directors has authorized to be executed, and he may accomplish such execution

either under or without the seal of the Corporation and either individually or with the Secretary, any assistant secretary, or any other officer thereunto authorized by the Board of Directors, according to the requirements of the form of the instrument. He may vote all securities which the Corporation is entitled to vote except as and to the extent such authority shall be vested in a different officer or agent of the Corporation by the Board of Directors. The President will work with suppliers of services and hold regularly scheduled meetings designed to ensure communication is maximized between them and the QCHA.

SECTION 5. Vice President. The Vice President(s) shall perform such duties as shall be assigned to the Vice President by the President or the Board of Directors. Further, in absence of the President or in the event of the President's inability or refusal to act, a Vice President shall perform the duties of the President and when so acting, shall have all the powers of and be subject to all the restrictions upon the President. Responsible for conducting an annual audit of the books by an outside source with an accounting background. Responsible for Risk Management Committee.

SECTION 6. Secretary. The Secretary shall record the minutes of the meetings of the Board of Directors, see that all notices are duly given in accordance with the provisions of the By-laws or as required by law; be custodian of the corporate records; perform all duties incident to the office of the Secretary and such other duties as from time to time may be assigned to the Secretary by the President or by the Board of Directors, including disseminating important information to the membership concerning time, dates, and places of meetings, etc. Secretary will also work with web site person to get information posted. Secretary will be in charge of keeping bylaws up-to-date. Keep electronic files updated,

SECTION 7. Treasurer. The Treasurer shall be the principal accounting and financial officer of the Corporation. The Treasurer shall: (a) have charge of and be responsible for the maintenance of adequate books of account for the Corporation; (b) have charge and custody of all funds and securities of the Corporation, and be responsible therefore, and for the receipt and disbursement thereof; and (c) perform all the duties customarily incident to the office of a Treasurer. The Treasurer will also be responsible for the formulation of the registration fees and procedures for registration which will then be submitted to the Board for approval. Treasurer will also receive input from the appropriate Directors which will allow for the preparation of a budget each year. This budget will be submitted for approval to the Board. Will maintain 501 C-3 (not-for-profit) status for organization.

SECTION 8. House League Director. Responsibilities shall include general management of the House League in cooperation with the other Directors and suppliers of services. Primary duties include program development, coordination of player progression with OneGoal and Learn to Play Hockey program managers, practice and game scheduling, budget development and management, registration coordination and parent liaison.

SECTION 9. Travel Hockey Director Responsible for general management of the travel programs including but not limited to formation and adherence to Travel Team Policies; selection of travel team coaches according to Board approved guidelines; and to serve as QCHA representative to the hockey leagues in which the QCHA teams play. The Travel Hockey Director may appoint a Travel Hockey staff, consisting of sub-directors acting under the direction of the Travel Hockey Director, to help manage the program. These sub-director positions will include, but not be restricted to: Director Limited Travel Teams; Director Travel Team Tryouts, and Director Invitational Tournaments, pending availability of suitable candidates.

SECTION 10. HIGH SCHOOL DIRECTOR. The High School Director shall be responsible for the overall operations of the Quad City Blues team. These duties include, but are not limited to: Represent the Blues at the League meetings; Assign personnel to head the following High School committees as needed-Operating, Concessions, Work Scheduler, Merchandise, Travel Arrangements, Senior Night, Banquet, Ad Book, Fund Raising, Communications, Treasurer. Director will select coaches according to the Board guidelines. Director will oversee all the committees and help as needed. Director will have knowledge of League policies and procedures as well as rule changes, and will enforce the policies and rules. Communicate with Referee in Chief concerning schedule and rule changes. Director will ensure that all players and coaches are registered with USA Hockey. Ensure a Parent representative is elected and Player Representative is selected to serve on the High School Committee. Work with League scheduler and correspond with other league representatives as needed.

SECTION 11. Past President. This Officers position has been added to insure continuity in implementation of past and current corporation guidelines and issues.

Section 12. Director(s)-At-Large. This position has been added to insure the board has sufficient board members to carry out the overall responsibilities of the Board of Directors. The Director-At-Large position has the

same privileges as the designated officers. The Director-At-Large position will be assigned specified responsibilities by the Board of Directors as required to ensure the viability of the Quad City Hockey Association. The Director(s)-At-Large may be asked to fill in for an Officers position in the event that a position is temporarily open; the President would make this assignment.

ARTICLE V - COMMITTEES

SECTION 1. Committees of Directors. The Board of Directors, by resolution adopted by a majority of the Directors in office, may designate one (1) or more committees, to the extent provided in said resolution and not restricted by law, shall have and exercise the authority and act on behalf of the Board of Directors in the management of the Corporation; but the designation of such committees and the delegation thereto of authority shall not operate to relieve the Board of Directors, or any individual directors, of any responsibility imposed upon it or him by law. The President and Vice-President shall be ex-officio members of said committees, although the Vice-President shall not possess a vote.

SECTION 2. Standing Committees. The membership of each Standing Committee may vary in number and members shall be appointed to one-year terms by the President or the Board, at whose pleasure they shall serve. Unless otherwise provided, the Chairperson of the Standing Committees of the Board shall be appointed for one-year terms by the President at the Annual Meeting of the Corporation. All Standing Committees shall have and exercise the authority to act according to the authority granted by the Board of Directors or as described by the bylaws or by resolution. If no responsibilities are described the committee shall serve in an advisory capacity to the Board and may not act on behalf of the Corporation or bind it to any action but may make recommendations to the Board. Additional Standing Committees may be created upon recommendation of the Board with majority consent; a standing committee may be discontinued in the same manner. At least one Officer from the Board of Directors shall be appointed to each Standing Committee. Without restricting the provisions of Section 1 hereof, the Standing Committees of the Corporation and their responsibilities shall be as follows:

- A. Fund-Raising Committee The Fund-Raising Committee shall raise funds to support the activities of the Corporation. The main focus of this committee is the planning, organizing and execution of all fundraising activities as approved by the Board. Proceeds from the events will be allocated to QCHA programs at the discretion of the Board. Committee negotiates with outside vendors who come in during tournaments for percentage of sales the association will receive. The chairperson of the committee reports directly to the QCHA Board. Any ideas must be approved by the Board before implementation.
- B. Officials / Rules Committee The Officials / Rules Committee shall work directly with the Referee-in-Chief to recruit, select and coordinate the officials. The Referee-in-Chief shall conduct clinics on a regular basis to provide on-going training and certification of officials. Officials must be certified by USA Hockey. Members of the committee to include the Referee In Chief, another Referee, Coaching Director, House League Director, and Travel Director.
- C. Risk Management Committee The Risk Management Committee shall provide information on and maintain insurance coverage for the Board of Directors, coaches, players, officials, members and volunteers. This Committee shall document, record and file with USA Hockey any liability or injury claims. This Committee shall also investigate all claims and provide recommendations on prevention measures. The Committee will be responsible to collect and submit to USA Hockey all Consent To Screen forms.
- D. Disciplinary Committee The Disciplinary Committee shall consist of and be limited to the Referee in Chief, a Committee Chairman, and one of the House League, Travel, High School Representatives depending on the League involved. This committee will be responsible for administering discipline for all judgments required as a result of infractions covered by the USA Official rules, QCHA rules or disciplinary requests made by an Official or member of the QCHA.
- E. **Budget Committee-** The Budget Committee shall consist of the Treasurer, and at least two (2) other Board members. This Committee shall recommend fiscal policies, review and recommend to the

Board operating and capital budgets, and monitor and evaluate the financial condition of the Corporation. The Budget Committee shall begin preparation of the annual budget in April of the previous budget year, and present the budget for approval of the Board of Directors at the regular board meeting in June. The budget may be revised and submitted for approval at other times during the year, at the direction of the Budget Committee, or at the direction of the President.

- F. **High School Committee** The High School Committee shall consist of the High School Director two (2) other Board members and no more than 2 other members of the QCHA. The chairman must be someone that does not have an immediate family member playing or coaching on the High School Team. The chairman does need to be a board member. The responsibilities of the High School Committee must be prescribed annually by resolution of the Board of Directors at a regular or special board meeting as soon as possible after the Annual meeting.
- G. **Coaching Committee-** The coaching Committee should include the House Director, Travel Director, High School Director, Association Coaching & Education Director and at least 3 and no more than 5 other individuals that have coaching experience. The responsibilities will be to define and maintain a coaching plan for the QCHA.

SECTION 3. Term of Office. Except as provided in Section 2 hereof, each member of a committee shall continue as such until his successor is appointed, unless the committee shall be sooner terminated, or unless such member be removed from such committee, or unless such member shall cease to qualify as a member thereof.

SECTION 4. Chairman. One (1) member of each committee shall be appointed chairman.

SECTION 5. Vacancies. Vacancies in the membership of any committee may be filled by appointments made in the same manner as provided in the case of the original appointments.

SECTION 6. Quorum. Unless otherwise provided in the resolution of the Board of Directors designating a committee, a majority of the whole committee shall constitute a quorum and the act of a majority of the members present at a meeting at which a quorum is present shall be the act of the committee. In the event of a tie, the QCHA President will be asked to break the tie.

SECTION 7. Rules. Each committee may adopt rules for its own government not inconsistent with these Bylaws or with rules adopted by the Board of Directors.

ARTICLE VI - OTHER POSITIONS

Coaching Director-This is not a board position. Responsibilities include conducting Level I coaching clinics; Organize Level II and III clinics as appropriate; Official Coaching representative to Mid-West Amateur Hockey Association coaches meetings; Act as ACE coordinator; report to QCHA at monthly meetings; Organize and conduct coaching development program to increase level of coaching ability; Work with QCHA to ensure that all coaches are properly registered and certified; Maintain communications with coaches and QCHA membership at all times; Maintain a library of information for use by coaches; Manage the Coach Recognition Program.

Director of Hockey Skill Development (DHSD)-This is not a board position. The DHSD position will be filled annually by vote of the QCHA board of directors. The DHSD will be in charge of the design, management and supervision of the hockey skill development of the QCHA membership, specifically all players from One Goal, Learn to Play, Mini-Mite through High School. The DHSD will provide direction, goals and structure for the on-ice development of QCHA players at each level of the program. They will evaluate and counsel on modifications to QCHA on-ice programming as is required. The DHSD will work in consultation with and provide direction to the Coaching Director, Director House and Director Travel on a monthly basis or as requested by QCHA board members. The DHSD will advise the QCHA Board on direction, changes, and improvements recommended to enhance the development of QCHA skaters and teams all while supporting USA Hockey Programming. In addition the DHSD will have the responsibility to coordination of all travel tryout processes, including arranging qualified evaluators, drill designation, and verification of scoring per the QCHA Travel Team Policy.

The DHSD is a paid position within the QCHA and will be hired on a yearly basis. The salary will be determined by the board and stated in the DHSD contract. The hiring committee will consist of the President, Vice President and Travel Director. The hiring committee will recommend the preferred candidate and an adequate salary to the board. The board will be responsible to vote on this position.

ARTICLE VII - CONTRACTS, CHECKS, DEPOSITS AND FUNDS

SECTION 1. Contracts. The Board of Directors may authorize any officer or officers or agent or agents of the Corporation to enter into any contract or execute and delivery any instrument in the name of and on behalf of the Corporation and such authority may be general or confined to specific instances.

SECTION 2. Checks, Drafts, Etc. All checks, drafts or other orders for the payment of money, notes or other evidences of indebtedness issued in the name of the Corporation, shall be signed by such officer or officers or agent or agents of the Corporation and in such manner as shall from time to time be determined by resolution of the Board of Directors. In the absence of such determination by the Board of Directors, such instruments shall be signed by the Secretary or Treasurer and countersigned by the President of the Corporation. Each month the President is required to review all checks written and ensure checks have followed in sequential order.

SECTION 3. Deposits. All funds of the Corporation shall be deposited from time to time to the credit of the Corporation in such banks, trust companies, or other depositories as the Board of Directors may select.

SECTION 4. Gifts. The Board of Directors may accept on behalf of the Corporation any contribution, gift, bequest or devise for the general purposes or for any special purpose of the Corporation.

ARTICLE VIII - BOOKS AND RECORDS

The Corporation shall keep correct and complete books and records of account and shall also keep minutes of the proceedings of its Board of Directors and committees having any of the authority of the Board of Directors.

ARTICLE IX - FISCAL YEAR

The fiscal year of the Corporation shall be 1 July to 30 June.

ARTICLE X - SEAL

There shall be no corporate seal.

ARTICLE XI - WAIVER OF NOTICE

Whenever any notice is required to be given under the provisions of the Iowa Nonprofit Corporation Act or under the provisions of the Articles of Incorporation or the By-laws of the Corporation, a waiver thereof in writing signed by the person or persons entitled to such notice, whether before or after the time stated therein, shall be deemed equivalent to the giving of such notice.

ARTICLE XII – AMENDMENTS

The power to alter, amend, or repeal the By-laws or adopt new by-laws shall be vested in the Board of Directors. Such action may be taken at a regular or special meeting of the Board of Directors for which written notice of the purpose shall be given. The By-laws may contain any provisions for the regulation and management of the affairs of the Corporation not inconsistent with law or the Articles of Incorporation.

ARTICLE XIII - INDEMNIFICATION AND INSURANCE

SECTION 1. The Corporation may indemnify any person who was or is a party, or is threatened to be made a part to any threatened, pending or completed action, suit or proceeding, whether civil, criminal, administrative or investigative (other than an action by or in the right of the Corporation) by reason of the fact that he is or was a Director, Officer, employee or agent of the Corporation, or who is or was serving at the request of the Corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust or other enterprise, against expenses (including attorneys' fees), judgments, fines and amounts paid in settlement actually and reasonably incurred by him in connection with such

action, suit or proceeding, if he acted in good faith and in a manner he reasonably believed to be in, or not opposed to the best interests of the Corporation, and, with respect to any criminal action or proceeding, had no reasonable cause to believe his conduct was unlawful. The termination of any action, suit or proceeding by judgment, order, settlement, conviction, or upon a plea of no contender or its equivalent, shall not, of itself, create a presumption that the person did not act in good faith and in a manner which he reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to the best interests of the Corporation, and, with respect to any criminal action or proceeding, had reasonable cause to believe that his conduct was unlawful.

SECTION 2. The Corporation may indemnify any person who was or is a party, or is threatened to be made a party in the right of the Corporation to procure a judgment in its favor by reason of the fact that he is or was a director, officer, employee or agent of the Corporation, or is or was serving at the request of the Corporation as a director, officer, employee or agent of another Corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust or other enterprise, against expenses (including attorneys' fees) actually and reasonably incurred by him in connection with the defense or settlement of any such action or suit, if he acted in good faith and in a manner he reasonably believed to be in, or not opposed to the best interests of the Corporation, and except that no indemnification shall be made in respect of any claim, issue or matter as to which such person shall have been adjudged to be liable for negligence or misconduct in the performance of his duty to the Corporation, unless, and only to the extent that the court in which such action or suit was brought shall determine upon application that, despite the adjudication of liability, but in view of all the circumstances of the case, such person is fairly and reasonably entitled to indemnity for such expenses as the court shall deem proper.

SECTION 3. To the extent that a Director, Officer, employee or agent of the Corporation has been successful, on the merits or otherwise, in the defense of any action, suit or proceeding referred to in Sections 1 and 2 of this Article XII, or in defense of any claim, issue or matter therein, he shall be indemnified against expenses (including attorneys' fees) actually and reasonably incurred by him in connection therewith.

SECTION 4. Any indemnification under Section 1 and 2 of this Article XII (unless ordered by a court) shall be made by the Corporation only as authorized in the specific case, upon a determination that indemnification of the Director, Officer, employee or agent is proper in the circumstances because he has met the applicable standard of conduct set forth in Sections 1 and 2 of this Article XII. Such determination shall be made (i) by the Board of Directors by a majority vote of a quorum consisting of the Directors who were not parties to such action, suit or proceeding, or (ii) if such a quorum is not obtainable, or, even if obtainable, a quorum of disinterested Directors so directs, by independent legal counsel in a written opinion.

SECTION 5. Expenses incurred in defending a civil or criminal action, suit or proceeding may be paid by the Corporation in advance of the final disposition of such action, suit or proceeding, as authorized by the Board of Directors in the specific case, upon receipt of an undertaking by or on behalf of the Director, Officer, employee or agent to repay such amount, unless it shall ultimately be determined that he is entitled to be indemnified by the Corporation as authorized in this Article XII.

SECTION 6. The indemnification provided by this Article XII shall not be deemed exclusive or any other rights to which those seeking indemnification may be entitled under any agreement, vote of disinterested directors, or otherwise, both as to action in his official capacity and as to action in another capacity while holding such office, and shall continue as to a person who has ceased to be a Director, Officer, employee or agent, and shall inure to the benefit of the heirs, executors and administrators of such a person.

SECTION 7. The Corporation may purchase and maintain insurance on behalf of any person who is or was a Director, Officer, employee or agent of the Corporation, or who is or was serving at the request of the Corporation as a Director, Officer, employee or agent of another Corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust or other enterprise, against any liability asserted against him and incurred by him in any such capacity, or arising out of his status as such, whether or not the Corporation would have the power to indemnify him against such liability under the provisions of this Article XII. USA Hockey does provide insurance coverage which should be taken into consideration before additional coverage is purchased.

ARTICLE XIV - MISCELLANEOUS

As used in these By-laws, the masculine shall include the feminine.

SECTION 1. The QCHA will subscribe verbatim to the Mid-West Amateur Hockey Association (MWAHA) process in dealing with complaints regarding rules violations, Zero Tolerance, or Ethics issues. The USA Hockey Guide defines Zero Tolerance, Sexual Abuse, Physical Abuse, Screening, Hazing and Substance related policies including a process for dispute resolution. All complaints regarding Discipline or Ethics issues must be received by the QCHA President in writing. Verbal complaints will only be accepted if they are followed up with a written statement.

SECTION 2. Zero Tolerance Complaints. All written Zero Tolerance complaints must include the date the activity occurred, the location, the people involved, a full description of the activity, any potential witnesses to collaborate the statement and a request for action on the part of the QCHA Board of Directors. Once the statement is received, the entire Board of Directors will be advised by the President that a complaint has been received and who the affected parties are. The President will provide a copy of the complaint to the President of the MWAHA as prescribed by their policy.

SECTION 3. Ethics Complaint. In the case of an Ethics issue, the USA Hockey Ethics Violation Form must be submitted to the QCHA President who will provide a copy to the MWAHA Executive Committee. This Committee will determine who will investigate and conduct the initial hearing. Within five days the President will appoint someone to investigate the complaint. The President may thereafter appoint an individual or a committee of at least three impartial people to hear the complaint and render a judgment. The investigator shall complete the investigation within 14 days of his/her appointment and report the finding to the designated individual or committee.

SECTION 4. Discipline Committee. In accordance with QCHA by-laws, the Disciplinary Committee will be made up of a Chairman, the Referee in Chief and the Director responsible for the program in which the player or coach are currently participating assuming no conflict of interest exists with these parties. Where a conflict of interest does exist, the President will identify and obtain approval of the Board of Directors for a substitute.

SECTION 5. Ethics Committee. In accordance with the MWAHA policy, this committee will be made up of at least three people, appointed by the President and they will be charged with hearing the complaint and rendering a judgment. This assumes the President has no conflict of interest; otherwise, the committee must be approved by a vote of the Board of Directors. Should the Ethics Committee be made up of members other than the Disciplinary Committee, the Board of Directors shall vote on the selection of these members.

SECTION 6. No Contact Rule. Once a case has been referred to either the Disciplinary Committee or to an Ethics Committee, no QCHA Board member (elected or non-elected) shall have any conversations (written or verbal) on the subject of the complaint with the accused, potential witnesses or Committee members. This policy is designed to ensure a fair and unbiased hearing for the accused.

SECTION 7. Appeals. In accordance with MWAHA policy, individuals, teams or organizations have 10 days to appeal a decision. The appeal must be made in writing to the designated authority as defined by the MWAHA. Refer to the USA Hockey Guide section 10C of the bylaws for the appeals process. For appeal requests that are received within 10 days, the hearing body has 30 days or after appropriate investigation, to provide a hearing. In no case should the time to a hearing exceed 60 days.

SECTION 8. Hearing Process. The accused and witnesses must be given a minimum of 7 days notice prior to the hearing taking place. The Committee Chairman will have primary responsibility for leading the proceedings. All known, willing witnesses as well as the accused shall have the right to provide evidence. Witnesses and the accused will provide their evidence one at a time, with only the Committee present. (Note: The President may also be present with the sole purpose of ensuring proper procedures are adhered to. The President is not part of the Committee and cannot participate in the questioning or offer comments related to the actual event being reviewed.) Committee members are permitted to ask any pertinent questions of witnesses or the accused including questions on any prior written complaints, decisions or appeals from an association or affiliate under USA Hockey as it pertains to the affected parties. Upon conclusion of the hearing, the Committee shall meet to review the evidence and reach a decision. Within 3 days the Committee Chair shall provide a written letter to the accused with the decision of the Committee. A copy of this letter will also be provided to the QCHA President who will advise the Board of Directors of the decision. Such letter must also include a statement outlining the right of appeal and process for same.

SECTION 9. QCHA Board Protection Against Bias. Since the QCHA Board of Directors will be the first line of appeal, members of the Board shall not be asked to review evidence in any case prior to sending the issue to the

Discipline or Ethics Committee. Exposure to evidence, opinion or hearsay could contaminate the Appeal Committee and as such, these complaints shall go directly to the appropriate committee without prior review by the Board.

ARTICLE XVI – Election Policy

SECTION 1. Definition. This article describes the process to be followed at the annual meeting of the Quad City Hockey Association (QCHA), regarding the election of board members.

SECTION 2. Elections Officer.

- A. **Appointment** The President of the QCHA shall appoint a board member whose position is not up for election and who is not otherwise running for an open position as Elections Officer at the January board meeting, two months prior to the Annual Meeting/Board of Directors election. The appointment of the Elections Officer should be confirmed by board vote during the regularly scheduled board meeting two months prior to the annual meeting.
- B. **Term** The Elections Officer's power shall begin at the confirmed appointment and end after certified elections results are communicated.
- C. Duties The Elections Officer shall have responsibility for receiving candidates, preparing ballots, distributing ballots, collecting ballots, counting ballots and presenting certified results to the board and members present at the annual board meeting, as prescribed below.

SECTION 3. Elections Process.

- A. **Receiving Nominations** A communication should be sent to the membership no later than 3 weeks prior to the elections identifying the positions up for election and specifying any known candidates, the date, time and location of the election, and the deadline for declaring candidacy. Candidates must be self-nominated. All nominations must be received no later than 1 week prior to the start of election. A communication should be sent to the membership, no later than 1 week prior to the elections, providing final notice of all candidates participating in the elections. No nominations will be accepted from the floor. No candidate may be nominated for more than one position. No write-in candidates shall be considered.
- B. Preparing and Distributing of Ballots The Elections Officer shall designate a person(s) to register members present for the Annual Meeting. A listing of members in good standing should be maintained for registration. One vote shall be given to each player (as cast by one parent), coach over age 18, referee over age 18 and board member. A spouse shall not be allowed to vote their spouse's vote(s). There will be no proxy votes. Ballots should include the board position and each identified candidate. Ballots should be identified by a sequential number. A list should be kept of the ballot numbers distributed and ballot numbers received. Each ballot should consist of one (1) vote. Members receiving multiple votes (for multiple children, serving as referee, coach or board member) shall receive multiple ballots. There should be no tie between the membership listing and the ballot number listing.
- C. Presenting Candidates After the Annual Meeting is called to order, the Elections Officer shall perform roll call on all candidates. Each candidate present shall have the opportunity the address the membership. Candidates unable to be present may provide the Elections Officer a statement to be read during the meeting.
- D. Collecting Ballots After candidate roll call is complete, the meeting will be closed to additional members. Members shall be given the opportunity to record their vote. The Elections Officer shall collect all completed ballots. The Elections officer shall call final call for all ballots. A reasonable time after final call, the Elections Officer shall announce that voting has been closed. After voting has been closed, no additional votes may be collected.
- E. **Counting Ballots** The Elections Officer shall designate a Ballot Counter. The Ballot Counter and Elections Officer shall validate each ballot cast by validating ballot number received to list of ballot

- numbers distributed. A ballot that is altered or is unclear of the selection shall be marked invalid in its entirety. Each valid ballot shall be counted by the Elections Officer and Ballot Counter.
- F. Identification of Winning Candidates Any candidate receiving the largest number of votes shall be deemed the winner. In the case no candidate receives a larger number of votes, the members present at the annual meeting shall be notified that there is a tie for one of the positions. The members present upon notification will be asked to vote again for only the position in which the tie exists. The members shall re-vote for that position for any of the candidates originally designated for such position. If the subsequent vote is deemed a tie, another re-vote will be taken. This will be repeated until one candidate has the largest number of votes.
- G. **Certification of Election Results** Upon agreement of total vote counts and the identification of the winner for each category, the Elections Officer shall prepare and sign a Certification of Election Results and present to the Secretary of the Board to be read to the membership. The Certification of Election Results shall contain the name of the winning candidates.

SECTION 4. Retention of Ballots. The Secretary of the QCHA Board shall retain the ballots and Certification of Elections results for a period of six (6) months. These documents should be made available, upon written to request, to any member in good standing at the time of the election.